**RECEIVED**

**Jan 11 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000424

---

The NEXT School, Inc., a Public, Not-for-Profit Corporation  
Incorporated & Existing under the Laws of the State of South Carolina, . . . . . Appellant,

v.

AT-NET Services-Charlotte, Inc., a Private Corporation  
Incorporated & Existing under the Laws of the State of North Carolina,  
and American Arbitration Association, Inc., a Not-for-Profit Corporation

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error in determining that the School, a South Carolina public charter school, is not a South Carolina state actor and is therefore not entitled to sovereign immunity?
2. Did the trial court commit reversible error by holding that the School, by entering into a contract with an arbitration clause, waives sovereign immunity in North Carolina and is subject to the jurisdiction of an arbitration in North Carolina and the North Carolina state courts?
3. Did the trial court commit reversible error by holding that a North Carolina statute can confer jurisdiction in North Carolina over a South Carolina state actor where South Carolina has not expressly waived its interstate sovereign immunity for South Carolina state actors?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

AT-Net Services–Charlotte, Inc. (“ATNSC”) is a private North Carolina company. (See R. 28 & 34.) The NEXT School (“the School”) is a free public charter school in Greenville, South Carolina. (See R. 231-46; R. 151 & 153-56.) ATNSC and the School entered into a Master Services Agreement (“the Agreement”) on July 2, 2015. (R. 195-202.)

Under Article 13–Governing Law, “The Agreement and subsequent Amendments shall be governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina.” (R. 199.) Under Article 18–Arbitration:

18.1 All Disputes to be Arbitrated. All disputes related to this Agreement shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with the American Arbitration Association then in effect unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise. This agreement shall be specifically enforceable under the prevailing arbitration law. All awards rendered by the arbitrator(s) shall be final and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction.

(R. 200.)

Following a dispute regarding payment, ATNSC filed an action against the School in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina for breach of contract. (See R. 61.) Prior counsel for the School advised ATNSC’s counsel that the School did not waive its arbitration rights under the Agreement. (R. 204.) In response, ATNSC dismissed its lawsuit in Mecklenburg County and immediately commenced arbitration proceedings. (See R. 57.) Under protest of the School as to jurisdiction and sovereign immunity, the arbitration occurred in Charlotte, North Carolina, (see R. 160-67, 169-71, 173-74, 176 & 178-80), because the American Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) informed counsel for the School that an arbitrator would not be assigned until the parties selected a forum and the School’s

jurisdictional arguments would only be addressed by the assigned arbitrator. (See R. 64 & 173.)

On December 4, 2018, the School, in its answer to the arbitration complaint, asserted as its Fourth Defense Lack of Jurisdiction/Sovereign Immunity and asserted that the School, as a South Carolina state actor, is only amenable to proceedings in suits “instituted in the courts of the State of South Carolina.” (R. 164.) On December 6, 2018, the School also filed a Motion to Dismiss the arbitration proceeding in Charlotte because the School, as a South Carolina state actor, “may only be sued in a court or tribunal for which the State of South Carolina has given its consent.” (R. 169-71.) By letter dated December 18, 2018, the AAA declined to address the School’s jurisdictional arguments, reserving the issue for the arbitrator. (R. 173.)

On April 28, 2019, in the course of the arbitration proceedings, the School filed a Renewed Motion to Dismiss. (Id.) The arbitrator did not decide the motion, but indicated that she would adjudicate the merits of the motion after receiving evidence and testimony in the arbitration proceeding.

On May 2, 2019, the final merits hearing of the arbitration was held. At the outset of the proceedings, the School filed a Notice of Protest to participation in the arbitration proceeding “consistent with its position that the doctrine of sovereign immunity prohibits [the School], as an actor of the State of South Carolina, from being subject to legal proceedings in any forum other than those expressly authorized by the South Carolina General Assembly.” (R. 176.) The School participated in the arbitration “under protest, subject to and without waiving its jurisdictional defense.” (Id.)

The arbitrator denied the School's motions and entered an interim arbitration award in favor of ATNSC on May 12, 2019. (See R. 31.)

On May 13, 2019, the United States Supreme Court issued its ruling in Franchise Tax Board v. Hyatt, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019) (Hyatt III), holding that States retain their sovereign immunity from private suits brought in the courts of other States.

On May 20, 2019, the School filed a Renewed Objection to Jurisdiction and Motion to Vacate the Decision of the Arbitrator. (R. 178-82.) The School renewed its objection to jurisdiction and moved to vacate the arbitrator's decision, expressly in part on the basis of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Hyatt III. (Id.)

By letter dated May 23, 2019, the arbitrator denied the School's motion and entered a Final Arbitration Award in favor of ATNSC. (R. 137-38.)

On October 7, 2019, ATNSC moved to confirm the arbitration award in the Mecklenburg County Superior Court pursuant to the North Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, N.C.G.S. § 1-569.1 et seq. ("the NC Arbitration Act").

On November 19, 2019, the School filed a declaratory judgment action in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville County, South Carolina, asking the court to declare the arbitration proceedings and award void *ab initio*. This action was indexed as Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-6745 (the "6745 action"). (R. 25.)

On November 21, 2019, a hearing was held in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina on ATNSC's motion to confirm the arbitration award. The School did not attend the hearing in Mecklenburg County, precisely because South Carolina state actors are not amenable to proceedings in the courts of other States. On November 26, 2019, the

Mecklenburg Superior Court confirmed the arbitration award, thereby making the arbitration award a judgment of the North Carolina court. (R. 135-36.)

On February 17, 2020, ATNSC filed a notice of filing of foreign judgment in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville County, South Carolina, pursuant to the Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-900 et seq. (R. 130.) This action was indexed as Civil Action No. 2020-CP-23-00969 (“the 969 action”).

On May 21, 2020, the School filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings seeking judgment in its favor in its declaratory judgment action—the 6745 action, (R. 126), a motion to dismiss ATNSC’s counterclaims in the 6745 action, (R. 128), and a motion for relief from the North Carolina judgment in the 969 action, (R. 141). The School’s motions were all based on its prior and consistent contentions that the School, as a South Carolina state actor, is entitled to sovereign immunity in any adjudicative forum other than those explicitly authorized by the General Assembly, the North Carolina tribunals lacked jurisdiction, and the arbitration and North Carolina court decision are therefore void and a nullity, and should be vacated. Following a hearing on all three of the School’s motions, by Order dated July 7, 2020, the trial court denied the School’s motions and directed the clerk to docket and index the North Carolina judgment as any other judgment of South Carolina in Civil Action No. 2020-CP-23-00969. (R. 10.)

On July 16, 2020, the School, pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Court’s July 7, 2020 Order. (R. 224.) The School argued that the trial court erred in: (1) determining the School, as a public charter school, was a political subdivision of South Carolina, not a South Carolina state actor, and therefore not entitled to sovereign immunity; and (2) deciding that the School,

by entering into a contract with an arbitration clause, was subject to the jurisdiction of an arbitration in North Carolina and the North Carolina state courts. Following a hearing held on March 1, 2021, the trial court, by Order dated March 25, 2021, denied the School's Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend the July 7, 2020 Order. (R. 19.) The trial court based its decision on its prior reasoning in the July 7, 2020 Order and for the reasons set forth in the March 25, 2021 Order. (Id.) On April 20, 2021, Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal from the July 7, 2020 Order and the March 25, 2021 Order. (R. 247 & 266.)

For the reasons set out hereinafter, and for any other reason that may be apparent to the Court based on the record below, Appellant would respectfully request that the trial court's decisions from which appeal is now taken be reversed and vacated, and that the case be remanded for further proceedings consistent with the decision to be rendered by this Court.

## ARGUMENT

Appellant has consistently argued that the arbitration proceedings and North Carolina judgment confirming the arbitration award are invalid because of lack of jurisdiction and sovereign immunity. Appellant has consistently taken exception from every aspect of the trial court's July 7, 2020 and March 25, 2021 Orders, and in particular: (1) the determination that the School is not a South Carolina state actor and is therefore not entitled to sovereign immunity; (2) the determination that the School, by entering into a contract with an arbitration clause, has waived its sovereign immunity in North Carolina proceedings; and (3) a North Carolina statute under the North Carolina Arbitration Act can confer subject matter jurisdiction over proceedings against the State of South Carolina or its actors. Appellant contends that because the School is a South Carolina state actor entitled to interstate sovereign immunity, and because the General Assembly has not waived immunity against South Carolina state actors upon any claim other than those commenced in South Carolina state courts, the arbitration proceeding presently at issue, and any other adjudicative proceeding that may occur outside the territorial boundaries of the State of South Carolina, are legal nullities.

### **I. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Because this appeal raises questions of law concerning subject matter jurisdiction, sovereign immunity, statutory interpretation, and the Full Faith and Credit Clause, this Court reviews the trial court's order *de novo*. Minorplanet Sys. USA Ltd. v. Am. Aire, Inc., 368 S.C. 146, 149, 628 S.E.2d 43, 44-45 (2006) (action to enforce foreign judgment is action at law); Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. South Carolina, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (statutory interpretation is question of law), *cert. den'd*, 552 U.S. 888

(2007); Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009) (subject matter jurisdiction is question of law); Unisys Corp. v. South Carolina Budget & Control Bd., 346 S.C. 158, 165, 551 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2001) (questions of jurisdiction and sovereign immunity are questions of law); Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009) (on appeal, all questions of law are reviewed *de novo*). The appellate courts are free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the lower court. Ion, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 718-19 (2000) (citing S.C. Const. art. V, §§ 5 & 9; S.C. Code Ann. §§ 14-3-320 and -330 (1976 Sup. 1998); S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200 (granting Supreme Court and Court of Appeals the jurisdiction to correct errors of law in both law and equity actions)); South Carolina Dep't of Transp. v. M&T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 654, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008).

The Full Faith and Credit Clause states that “Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public Acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State.” U.S. Const. Art. IV, § 1. The courts of one state must therefore “give such force and effect to a foreign judgment as the judgment would receive in the state where rendered.” Minorplanet, 368 S.C. at 149, 628 S.E.2d at 44-45. Some limitations on this mandate, however, do exist. “Chief among these limitations is the caveat, consistently recognized by this Court, that ‘a judgment of a court in one State is conclusive upon the merits in another State only if the court in the first State had power to pass on the merits—had jurisdiction, that is, to render the judgment.’” Underwriters Nat’l Assurance Co. v. N.C. Life & Acc. & Health Ins. Guar. Ass’n, 455 U.S. 691, 704 (1982) (quoting Durfee v. Duke, 375 U.S. 106, 110 (1963)). “Consequently, before a court is bound by the judgment rendered in another State, it may

inquire into the jurisdictional basis of the foreign court's decree. If that court did not have jurisdiction over the subject matter or the relevant parties, full faith and credit need not be given." Id. at 705. In other words, "a judgment rendered without subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction . . . is not entitled to full faith and credit." Widenhouse v. Colson, 405 S.C. 55, 59, 747 S.E.2d 188, 190 n.2 (2013). "Where the court of the issuing state has fully and fairly litigated and finally decided the question of jurisdiction, further inquiry into the jurisdiction of the issuing court is precluded." Pitts v. Fink, 389 S.C. 156, 162, 698 S.E.2d 626, 629 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting Durfee, 375 U.S. at 111). "Otherwise, 'before a court is bound by the judgment rendered in another State, it may inquire into the jurisdictional basis of the foreign court's decree.'" Id. (quoting Underwriters, 455 U.S. 691, 705 (1982)). Furthermore, sovereign immunity and subject matter jurisdiction are "not forfeited by inattention at the trial level" and "can be raised for the first time on appeal." Virginia Dep't of Corr. v. Jordan, 921 F.3d 180, 187 (4th Cir. 2019), *cert. den'd*, 140 S. Ct. 672 (2019).

In this case, the North Carolina court did not fully and fairly litigate and finally decide the questions of jurisdiction and sovereign immunity, and there is no discussion in its order specifically addressing sovereign immunity or subject matter jurisdiction, (R. 135-36); therefore, the South Carolina trial court could inquire into the jurisdictional basis of the North Carolina's decree confirming the arbitration award. Pitts, 389 S.C. at 162, 698 S.E.2d 629. The South Carolina trial court, however, erred in determining the School is not a South Carolina state actor, erred in determining the School is not entitled to sovereign immunity, erred in determining the School waived sovereign immunity, and erred in determining the North Carolina proceedings had jurisdiction.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DETERMINING THAT THE SCHOOL, A SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL, IS NOT A SOUTH CAROLINA STATE ACTOR AND IS NOT ENTITLED TO SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.**

**A. Identification of the Portion of the Order at Issue**

In relevant part, the trial court incorrectly determined the School is not a state actor:

Finally, political subdivisions of states “do not enjoy a constitutionally protected immunity from suit under the Eleventh Amendment of the United States Constitution.” Jinks v. Richland Cty., 538 U.S. 456, 466 (2003). As recently explained by the Utah Supreme Court, “Hyatt-which addressed constitutionally protected sovereign immunity-does not apply to political subdivisions. The principles set forth in Hall continue to govern a state’s governmental immunity grant to its political subdivisions and the respect that should be attributed to it by other states.” Galindo v. City of Flagstaff, 452 P.2d 1185, 1187 (Sup. Ct. Utah 2019) (citing to Nevada v. Hall, 99 S. Ct. 1182 (1979) (providing that states are free to choose whether or not to accord immunity or respect limits on liability established by sister states when those states were sued in their courts.

Whether NEXT should be entitled to sovereign immunity in a foreign court should be analyzed under the same framework as whether it would be entitled to state governmental immunity under the Eleventh Amendment. The Fourth Circuit has provided several factors in determining whether a political subdivision is an *alter ego* of the state, the most important of which being “whether the state treasury will be responsible for paying any judgment that might be awarded.” Ram Ditta v. Maryland National Capital Park and Planning Comm’n, 822 F.2d 456, 457 (1987). Other factors include “whether the entity exercises a significant degree of autonomy from the state, whether it is involved with local versus statewide concerns, and how it is treated as a matter of state law.” Id. Consideration of these factors weigh against finding that NEXT is an *alter ego* of the state and entitled to state sovereign immunity: The judgment will not be paid from the state treasury, charter schools were established to provide a high degree of autonomy from state regulations and requirements, and NEXT educates local students and has no statewide impact or presence. The only factor in favor is how it is treated as a matter of state law, but this is only one factor to be considered and is not determinative.

Because NEXT is a political subdivision, not a state actor, it is not entitled to the sovereign immunity discussed in Hyatt. Thus, even if NEXT’s interpretation of Hyatt were correct, which it is not, this case is properly analyzed under the Hall framework and North Carolina is free to ignore NEXT’s claims of immunity within its jurisdiction.”

(R. 16-17.) These conclusions that the School is not a South Carolina state actor and not entitled to sovereign immunity under an Eleventh Immunity analysis constitute legal error and must be reversed. The conclusion that Hall, which was overruled by Hyatt III, controls so that North Carolina is free to ignore the School's claims of sovereign immunity also constitute legal error and must be reversed.

**B. The trial court erred in determining the School is not a South Carolina state actor in derogation of the fact that the South Carolina Supreme Court has explicitly held that public charter schools are state actors.**

The trial court first erred in determining that the School is not a South Carolina state actor. The South Carolina Supreme Court has clearly determined that public charter schools are state actors. The School is a public charter school established under the laws of South Carolina. A charter school “means a public, nonreligious, nonhome-based, nonprofit corporation forming a school that operates by sponsorship of a public school district, the South Carolina Public Charter School District, or a public or independent institution of higher learning.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-40(1). The South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically and explicitly held that a charter school is a state actor:

Section 59-40-40(2)(a) of the South Carolina Code provides that a charter school “is, **for purposes of state law and the state constitution, considered a public school** and part of the South Carolina Public Charter School District, the local school district in which it is located, or is sponsored by a public or independent institution of higher learning.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-40-40(2)(a) (Supp. 2013). Section 59-17-10 of the South Carolina Code provides, in part, that “[e]very school district is and shall be a body politic and corporate . . . of . . . the State of South Carolina.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-17-10 (Supp. 2013); *Camp v. Sarratt*, 291 S.C. 480, 481, 354 S.E.2d 390, 391 (1987). In its order awarding attorney’s fees, the trial court found that under section 59-40-40(2), when read together with sections 59-40-40(1) and 59-40-50, **a charter school is considered a state entity** and is subject to the provisions of section 15-77-300. We agree with the trial court’s conclusion.

McNaughton v. Charleston Charter Sch. for Math & Science, Inc., 411 S.C. 249, 266, 768 S.E.2d 389, 398 (2015) (emphasis added). The South Carolina Supreme Court emphasized that “state actors need not perform all possible governmental functions. Rather, [the charter school] is a state actor because it is classified as a public school; is funded by state money; and created by virtue of state law in furtherance of the state’s duty to provide public education pursuant to Article XI, section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution.” Id. Where the South Carolina Supreme Court has explicitly recognized public charter schools as state entities or state actors, the trial court erred in classifying the School as a political subdivision instead of a state actor.

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