RECEIVED

Jan 10 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-23-06745 and
Case No. 2020-CP-23-00969
Appellate Case No. 2021-000424

The NEXT School, Inc., a Public, Not-for-Profit Corporation Incorporated & Existing under the Laws of the State of South Carolina, Appellant,

v.

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

A United States Supreme Court case, C & L Enterprises, Inc. v. Citizen Band Potawatomi Indian Tribe of Okla., 532 U.S. 411 (2001), is particularly instructive in its discussion of waiver of an Indian tribe's sovereign immunity. As the court previously held, tribes, unlike states, did not concede any sovereign immunity in ratifying the Constitution; thus, tribal immunity "is not subject to diminution by the States" and will prevent suit against the tribe absent a "clear" waiver by the tribe. Kiowa Tribe of Okla. v. Mfg. Techs., Inc., 523 U.S. 751 (1998); C & L Enters., Inc., 532 U.S. at 419. In C & L Enterprises, an Indian tribe and a contractor entered into a standard form construction contract copyrighted by the American Institute of Architects ("AIA"). C & L Enters., Inc., 532 U.S. at 414-15. The AIA contract included an arbitration clause remarkably similar to the one in the Services Agreement:

All claims or disputes between the Contractor and the Owner arising out of or relating to the Contract, or the breach thereof, shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with the Construction [I]ndustry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association currently in effect unless the parties mutually agree otherwise The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final,

and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

Id. at 415 (internal marks omitted). Also like here, the applicable AAA Rules provided that “[p]arties to these rules shall be deemed to have consented that judgment upon the arbitration award may be entered in any federal or state court having jurisdiction thereof.” Id. at 415.

Further, the AIA contract included a choice-of-law clause: “The contract shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located.” Id. (internal marks omitted). The Project was located in Oklahoma, which (like North Carolina) adopted a Uniform Arbitration Act providing that “[t]he making of an agreement . . . providing for arbitration in this state confers jurisdiction on the court to enforce the agreement under this act and to enter judgment on an award thereunder.” Id. (internal marks omitted). The act defined “court” as “any court of competent jurisdiction in this state.” Id. at 416 (internal marks omitted).

After a dispute, the contractor submitted an arbitration demand, which the tribe objected to on the basis of sovereign immunity. Id. The arbitrator rendered an award in favor of the contractor, and the contractor filed suit to enforce the award in Oklahoma state court. Id. The tribe appeared solely to move for dismissal on the basis of sovereign immunity. Id. The Oklahoma court denied the motion and entered judgment confirming the award. Id. The Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals disagreed with the lower court, holding that the AIA contract provisions fell short of the “unequivocal expression” required for the tribe to waive sovereign immunity. Id. at 417.

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed. In its unanimous opinion, the court held that the contract provision constituted a “clear” statement of waiver for several reasons:

1. The arbitration clause required dispute resolution by binding arbitration, and the award would “be reduced to judgment ‘in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.’ ”;
2. Pursuant to the AAA rules, the arbitration award would be “entered in any federal or state court having jurisdiction thereof”; and
3. Importantly, the court held that the contract’s provision that Oklahoma law would govern the contract “makes it plain enough that a ‘court having jurisdiction’ to enforce the award in question *is the Oklahoma state court* in which [the contractor] filed suit.” As the court held:

By selecting Oklahoma law (“the law of the place where the Project is located”) to govern the contract, . . . the parties have effectively consented to confirmation of the award “in accordance with” the Oklahoma Uniform Arbitration Act.

Id. at 418 – 19.

In addition, the court noted that Oklahoma’s Uniform Act allowed its courts to have jurisdiction “when ‘an agreement . . . provides for arbitration in this state.’ ” Id. at 419 – 20. Importantly, the court held that although the contract did not explicitly say that the arbitration would take place in Oklahoma, “[o]n any sensible reading of the Act, the [Oklahoma court] fits that statutory description.” Id. at 420.

Notably, the tribe argued that it never expressly waived its sovereign immunity in any *judicial forum* because it merely agreed to *arbitration*. Id. at 421 – 22. The court rejected this argument, stating that the arbitration provision “has a real world objective” and that “to the real world, the contract specifically authorizes judicial enforcement of the resolution arrived at through arbitration.” Id. at 422. Accordingly, the court held that the tribe waived its sovereign immunity.

C & L Enterprises is exactly on point here:

1. Like the tribe, Appellant agreed to resolve disputes by binding arbitration that would result in a “final” award and that “judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction.” (R. pp. 194, 200).
2. Like the tribe’s contract, the Services Agreement provided for arbitration before AAA with its applicable rules providing that the arbitration award would be “entered in any federal or state court having jurisdiction thereof.” (R. pp. 133, 137).
3. As the tribe agreed that another sovereign’s laws would govern its contract, Appellant likewise agreed that North Carolina’s laws would govern the Services Agreement. (R. pp. 194, 199.) According to the United States Supreme Court, such agreement “makes it plain enough” *that a North Carolina court* has jurisdiction to enforce the award. C & L Enters., Inc., 532 U.S. at 419.

Finally, as the tribe’s agreement to governance by Oklahoma law meant that the contract sufficiently “provid[ed] for arbitration in [Oklahoma courts]” to satisfy Oklahoma’s Uniform Arbitration Act, so Appellant’s agreement to governance by North Carolina law means that the Services Agreement sufficiently “provid[es] for arbitration in [North Carolina]” pursuant to North Carolina’s Revised Uniform Arbitration Act. Id.; N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-569.26 (2015).

Here, Appellant (1) demanded arbitration, (2) referred AT-NET to the “mandatory arbitration provision in [the Services Agreement],” (3) repeated that it was “not willing to waive arbitration in this matter,” and (4) even filed a motion to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 203 – 16). In addition, Appellant agreed to the governance of North Carolina law and agreed to conduct the arbitration in Charlotte, North Carolina. (R. pp. 208 – 18).

In sum, the United States Supreme Court’s reasoning holds here. By the express terms of the Services Agreement, Appellant plainly consented to the arbitration, its binding award, and the

North Carolina Superior Court’s jurisdiction in confirming that award. And Appellant’s consent did not end with the Services Agreement—when Appellant further agreed to hold the arbitration in Charlotte, North Carolina, it necessarily agreed that the award would be confirmed by a North Carolina court. Appellant cannot now disclaim jurisdiction of that same court.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE NORTH CAROLINA SUPERIOR COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO CONFIRM THE ARBITRAL AWARD

By the plain terms of the Services Agreement, Appellant expressly consented to jurisdiction of the North Carolina Superior Court to confirm the arbitration award. Specifically, Appellant agreed to be governed by North Carolina’s Revised Uniform Arbitration Act, which includes the following jurisdictional provision: “An agreement to arbitrate providing for arbitration in this State confers *exclusive jurisdiction* on the court to enter judgment on an award under this Article.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-569.26 (2015) (emphasis added). The North Carolina Superior Court plainly possessed subject matter jurisdiction to confirm the arbitral award.

Appellant’s arguments to the contrary misunderstand the distinction between subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction: the former considers the class of claims, and the latter considers the identity of the party. Lightfoot v. Cendant Mortg. Corp., — U.S. —, 137 S. Ct. 553, 562 (2017) (“A court must have the power to decide the claim before it (subject-matter jurisdiction) and power over the parties before it (personal jurisdiction) before it can resolve a case.”). State sovereign immunity concerns personal jurisdiction because it depends on the party’s identity as a sovereign. Mowrer v. U.S. Dep’t of Transp., 14 F.4th 723, 741 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (Katsas, J., concurring) (“From the beginning, sovereign immunity thus concerned the power to hale a particular party into court, or what we now call personal jurisdiction.”); Hyatt, 587 U.S. —, 139 S. Ct. at 1493 – 94 (discussing sovereign immunity as sounding in personal jurisdiction); see also

PennEast Pipeline Co., LLC v. New Jersey, — U.S. —, 141 S. Ct. 2244, 2264 (2021) (Gorsuch, J., dissenting) (“Structural [sovereign] immunity sounds in personal jurisdiction . . .”).

“Subject-matter jurisdiction, because it involves a court's power to hear a case, can never be forfeited or waived.” Arbaugh v. Y&H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 514 (2006). As recognized by our Supreme Court, “[o]bviously, if the matter may be waived, it cannot involve subject matter jurisdiction.” Bardoon Props., NV v. Eidolon Corp., 326 S.C. 166, 170, 485 S.E.2d 371, 373 (1997). Appellant concedes that it is possible for a sovereign to consent to a foreign jurisdiction, and South Carolina and the United States Supreme Court have recognized this explicitly. Because sovereign immunity can be waived, as both parties agree, it must sound in personal, rather than subject matter, jurisdiction. Ins. Corp. of Ireland, Ltd. v. Compagnie des Bauxites de Guinee, 456 U.S. 694, 702 (1982) (“[N]o action of the parties can confer subject-matter jurisdiction upon a federal court. Thus, the consent of the parties is irrelevant, principles of estoppel do not apply, and a party does not waive the requirement by failing to challenge jurisdiction early in the proceedings.” (internal citations omitted)); State v. Grim, 341 S.C. 63, 66, 533 S.E.2d 329, 330 (2000) (“Furthermore, parties cannot confer subject matter jurisdiction by consent.” (citation omitted)).

Here, the North Carolina Superior Court had subject matter jurisdiction because it was empowered to hear the class of claims before it, namely confirmation of arbitration awards issued in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina. It had personal jurisdiction because Appellant consented in the Services Agreement and in selecting Charlotte as the forum for the arbitration hearing. See White v. Preferred Research, Inc., 315 S.C. 209, 432 S.E.2d 506 (Ct. App. 1993) (upholding lower court’s confirmation of arbitral award and holding that because parties submitted matter to binding arbitration, “they waived the defense of lack of personal jurisdiction”); see also St. Paul Fire &

Marine Ins. Co. v. Courtney Enters., Inc., 270 F.3d 621, 624 (8th Cir. 2001) (reasoning that “if the court in the selected forum did not have personal jurisdiction to compel arbitration, the agreement to arbitrate would be effectively unenforceable.”); Doctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Stuart, 85 F.3d 975, 979, 983 (2d Cir. 1996) (holding that party’s agreement to arbitrate in forum showed consent to personal jurisdiction as to matters relating to that arbitration). Further, even if Appellant did not consent, Appellant waived its personal jurisdiction arguments by failing to appear in North Carolina Superior Court and object to confirmation. Pharmavite LLC v. Netbus Inc., Civil Action No. 0:21-cv-00361, 2021 WL 4198506, at *5 (D.S.C. Sept. 15, 2021) (“Because Defendants failed to raise the defense of personal jurisdiction in a timely manner, they have waived their objection to personal jurisdiction in this Court.” (citations and internal marks omitted)); S.C. Nat. Bank v. Westpac Banking Corp., 578 F. Supp. 596, 598-99 (D.S.C. 1987) (“Acts inconsistent with the continued assertion of a right, such as the failure to insist upon the right, may constitute waiver. . . . Thus, a party who objects to a court’s jurisdiction, but takes action inconsistent with that objection, waives the objection and becomes subject to the court’s jurisdiction.” (citations omitted)).

Further, if Appellant’s argument is correct, then neither the Nevada Supreme Court nor the South Carolina Supreme Court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear Hyatt, Melton, or Newberry. Conspicuously, in each case, the defending governmental entity appeared in the foreign court to assert the defense of sovereign immunity—and no court declined to hear arguments regarding sovereign immunity because it allegedly “had no authority” to do so. (R. p. 84, line 9); see Waterfront Comm’n of N.Y. Harbor v. Governor of N.J., 961 F.3d 234 (3d Cir. 2020) (holding that New Jersey’s sovereign immunity deprived New York federal district court of jurisdiction to hear case); All Olympia Gymnastic Ctr. Inc. v. Nassar, Case No. 2:18-cv-10540-JLS-KES, 2020

WL 1955307 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 9, 2020) (holding that court had power to determine whether Michigan consented to suit in federal court in California); Kenneth H. Hughes, Inc. v. Aloha Tower Dev., Corp., 654 F. Supp. 2d 1142 (D. Haw. 2009) (holding state waived Eleventh Amendment sovereign immunity by contract); Ruisi v. O’Sullivan, 132 Conn. App. 1, 30 A.3d 14 (Conn. App. Ct. 2011) (remanding for lower court to determine whether sovereign immunity existed for New York official in Connecticut court). It seems incredible that the United States Supreme Court in Hyatt, the Nevada Supreme Court in Hyatt, and the South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals in Melton and Newberry all failed to notice that the courts where these actions were litigated lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear and determine the case at all.

In fact, the only issue as to subject matter jurisdiction in this case is South Carolina’s lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the arbitration award. As this Court held in Ashley River Props. I, LLC v. Ashley River Props. II, LLC, 374 S.C. 271, 281, 648 S.E.2d 295, 300 (Ct. App. 2007), “South Carolina courts do not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider a motion to review an arbitration award issued in a proceeding conducted in [another state] pursuant to the parties’ written agreement.” Here, Appellant expressly agreed in email correspondence that “Charlotte is an acceptable forum” for the arbitration hearing. (R. pp. 217 – 18). Further, Appellant agreed to the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules, providing that Appellant has “consented that judgment upon the arbitration award may be entered in any federal or state court having jurisdiction thereof.” AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules, R-52(c) (amended Oct. 1, 2013). By agreeing to conduct the arbitration hearing in North Carolina, Appellant necessarily agreed that an arbitral award could be reviewed by a North Carolina court. Accordingly, South Carolina courts lack subject matter jurisdiction to review the arbitral award.

Moreover, the North Carolina court plainly had jurisdiction to determine *whether* Appellant had consented to suit. Implicit in each of the above cases is that a court has power to determine *whether* it has jurisdiction in a matter. The United States District Court for the District of California considered this exact issue in All Olympia Gymnastic Center Inc. v. Nassar, Case No. 2:18-cv-10540-JLS-KES, 2020 WL 1955307 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 9, 2020). There, the plaintiffs filed suit in federal court in California against Michigan State University (“MSU”). *Id.* at *1. MSU argued that under Hyatt, when determining subject-matter jurisdiction, “all the Court needs to know is that MSU is an arm of the State of Michigan” and that it therefore automatically “lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over MSU—no questions asked.” *Id.* at *3. “In other words, MSU construes Hyatt to mean that, in a case like this one, state courts may not exercise jurisdiction over other States or state entities even to determine whether those States or state entities *consented* to jurisdiction.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). The court was incredulous. It reasoned that in Hyatt, the Supreme Court was clear that courts have jurisdiction over a consenting state; therefore, the court *must* have jurisdiction to determine whether the state consented. *Id.* Such logic—and binding case law from the Supreme Courts of the United States and South Carolina—apply here. The North Carolina Superior Court had jurisdiction to determine whether Appellant had consented.

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